1978

# Mallory Engineering, Inc v. Ted R. Brown & Associates, Inc and Valad Electric Heating Corp : Brief of Appellant Valad

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is basically a contract action wherein Plaintiff ordered certain electrical heaters from Defendant Brown who in turn ordered said heaters from Defendant Mallory; the heaters were claimed to be defective.

## DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

This case was tried by the Court, sitting without a jury, commencing on January 19, 1976, and continuing through until January 29, 1976, for a total of seven days of actual trial. Pursuant to stipulation, the case was tried first as to the issue of liability and second as to the issue of damages.

Upon completion of the evidence on liability, the Court made the definite ruling that Mallory did not get what it thought it was going to get with respect to the heaters, and that the preponderance of the evidence showed that Valad was required to furnish a certain type of heater which it did not furnish. (T. 620) At the beginning of the next day, however, the Court reversed itself and said that it had not intended to rule absolutely that Valad was liable despite the specific statement so made (T. 620, lns. 23-29), but that the Court did want to have post-trial briefs on the matter. The Court also indicated at the beginning of the bifurcated portion of the trial on damages, that the burden of persuasion was on Valad, not Mallory, the Plaintiff:

As between the Plaintiff and the Defendant Valad, I indicated in chambers that I felt that the burden of persuasion in view of my rulings, would be upon Valad to persuade me that they were not liable. (T. 631-2)

At the conclusion of the trial, the Court took the matter under advisement and all counsel submitted post-trial

briefs, which are found in the record. Subsequently, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law as well as a Judgment were filed by the Plaintiff; Defendant Valad filed objections to the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and a Motion for a New Trial. On April 5, 1977, all counsel met with Judge Taylor in chambers and agreed to certain Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law as to form, and further agreed that the Judgment would be amended to conform to the revised Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (R. 641)

In the second appeal on this matter, Supreme Court No. 15544, issues are presented which bear no relevance to Valad's appeal and concern only Mallory and Brown.

NOTE: The relevant abbreviations used herein are as follows: Record--"R."; Transcript--"T."; line or lines--"lns."; Exhibit--"Ex. or Exs."; Purchase Order--"P.O."; kilowatt--"KW"; paragraph--"¶"; and drawing--"DWG".

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant, Valad Electric Heating Corporation, seeks reversal of the judgment of the lower Court in favor of Mallory and/or Brown. Appellant Valad further seeks judgment on its Counterclaim against Brown in the sum of \$4,837.50. In the alternative, Valad seeks that its Motion for a New Trial be granted, and that the Court order a new trial on all of the issues in this case.



## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### The Parties

Plaintiff, Mallory Engineering, Inc., (hereinafter "Mallory"), whose principal office is located in Salt Lake City, Utah, designs and manufactures environmental equipment "very similar to the three projects that are under consideration in this Court case", according to it's president, Lee Farber. (T. 4) Defendant Ted R. Brown and Associates, Inc., (hereinafter "Brown"), is a firm of engineering consultants located in Salt Lake City, Utah, which ordered certain industrial heaters from Valad for the purpose of selling them to Mallory. Valad Electric Heating Corporation (hereinafter "Valad"), is a manufacturer and designer of electric heaters and industrial heating equipment. It's only office and plant are located in Tarrytown, New York. (T. 357-8)

### Principal Characters

The persons primarily involved in the negotiations for the parties were:

A. Lee Farber, president of Mallory: Mr. Farber is a qualified mechanical engineer. (T. 3-4) Mr. Farber did almost all of the negotiating with Brown's Carl Nyman for the purchase of the heaters.

B. Carl Nyman, Brown's engineer: The only person who negotiated on behalf of Brown was Carl Nyman, a qualified electrical engineer. (T. 226) Mr. Nyman negotiated with both Mallory's Farber and Valad's Cecchini.

C. Peter Cecchini, Valad's General Manager: All of the negotiations with respect to the order of the heaters by Brown were carried on by Peter Cecchini, Valad's

General Manager. Mr. Cecchini does not hold any technical engineering degrees such as Farber or Nyman, but has a degree in "industrial engineering", which deals generally with plant layout and business management of industrial plants, etc. (T. 356, 499)

#### Jurisdictional Contacts

Peter Cecchini's uncontradicted testimony at trial indicated that Valad had no employees, representatives, branch offices, or other sales contacts in the State of Utah. (T. 360) Further facts with respect to the validity of personal jurisdiction over Valad are set forth in Point I below.

#### Preliminary Negotiations

Beginning in January, 1972, (T. 358, 362) Brown sought out manufacturers of heating equipment which it wanted to buy in order to sell them to Mallory. (T. 75, 358-60, 219-22) The latter had purchased similar heaters from companies other than Valad. (T. 14, 33) After consulting Peter Cecchini of Valad (T. 385) and Valad's advertising leaflets in November, 1972, Brown eventually chose to negotiate with Valad (T. 97-99; Exs. 42 and 45) with whom it had never before dealt commercially. Thereafter, the extended preliminary negotiations leading to the eventual written contract to sell (Ex. 20) between Valad and Brown were conducted entirely by them. (T. 74, 240-42, 252-75, 326-32, 351-2, 358-9, 364-400)

#### Mallory's Governmental Contracts

Mallory's Lee Farber testified that he had certain contract commitments to build mobile environmental chambers designed to test ammunition, weaponry, etc. (T. 4) Mallory needed heaters for the purpose of raising the temperature in

these environmental chambers. (T. 4) During 1972, Farber and Nyman negotiated for the purchase of various heaters. The evidence is conflicting with respect to whether or not Nyman read the basic government documents or had knowledge of Mallory's specific heater needs. (T. 6, 7, 10, 13, 101, 195-6, 430-2) However, it is not contested that Valad never received copies of the government specifications. (T. 6-10, 13, 430-2) Further facts with respect to the government specifications appear in Point V below.

#### Relationship Between The Parties

The Record clearly establishes that Brown was Mallory's vendor and Mallory was the vendee. (T. 97) Similarly, Brown and Valad had the relationship of Vendor-Vendee. (T. 20, 23, 25-6, 28, 220-21, 235, 254-5, 281) There was no contractual relationship between Mallory and Valad. Mallory seeks to hold Valad only on a third-party beneficiary theory and the theory of guarantees. (Conclusion of Law No. 5) Further facts with respect to the relationship of the parties appear in Point II below.

#### Valad's Three Classes of Heaters

Cecchini's uncontradicted testimony showed that Valad manufactured three types of heaters. (T. 426-30) The three types are:

Class A: Stock-Items, mass produced, repetitive; heaters of various Valad designs; all advertised in it's catalog. (T. 426-7, 436)

Class B: Modified stock heaters with the same fundamental theory, design and structure as stock items but modi-

fied in size or shape for a customer's particular needs.

(T. 427-30. 436-7, 475-6, 492-6)

Class C: Specially designed or custom-made heaters, expressly guaranteed to meet the customers' special requirements for performance. (T. 427-8, 431, 437, 481, 524-5)

The heaters involved in this litigation fall into the Class B only. (T. 429-30) Additional facts regarding the significance of the classes of heaters appear in Point II below.

### Offer And Acceptance

The initial negotiations between Cecchini and Nyman, with respect to the purchase of the heaters by Brown, resulted in Brown's P.O. 6730 for the 15 and 21 KW heaters. (Exs. 10 and 11) This purchase order from Brown included a copy of a purchase order from Mallory to Brown, Mallory's P.O. 4016. (Ex. 9) These were not detailed enough to constitute a specific offer capable of acceptance by a manufacturer and were not accepted by Valad. On the basis of negotiations and discussions after those purchase orders, Valad presented Brown with detailed structural shop drawings for the 15 and 21 KW heaters. (Exs. 17 and 18) These constituted Valad's specific offer for the manufacture of the heaters. Nyman and Farber reviewed these drawings (the revised number 17 and the new 18), made certain modifications and approved them. This approval was written on both drawings, constituting Exhibit 20 (of which Exhibit 83 is the original), in Nyman's handwriting, by the words: "Approved for construction". Thus, Exhibits 20 and 83 became the only contract in the case between Valad and Brown.

## Shipment Of The Heaters And Problems

Sometime after the speed letter of January 26, 1973, arrived (Ex. 20), Valad began manufacturing the heaters and shipped the same in mid and late March, 1973. (T. 36, 713, Exs. 36 and 37) Valad manufactured the 12 KW heaters represented by Mallory P.O. 4047 (Ex. 12), and these are not at issue in this case. Valad never agreed to manufacture the 50 and 36 KW heaters and the record is devoid of any evidence that such were accepted.

Mallory installed the heaters after receipt in late March or early April and indicated its dissatisfactions to Brown's Nyman on or about April 30, 1973. (T. 241, 75, 415) At that point, Mallory got in touch with Valad for the first time (T. 74-5), and several conversations were held. The result of these conversations was Mallory's repudiation of any further contract with Valad, specifically for the 36 and 50 KW heaters. (Ex. 35) Additional facts with respect to the time sequence of the significant and relevant events in this case appear below.

## POINT I

THE COURT DOES NOT HAVE PERSONAL JURISDICTION OVER DEFENDANT VALAD UNDER THE "LONG ARM" STATUTE, U.C.A. 1953 §§78-27-22 THROUGH 25. NOR HAS DEFENDANT VALAD MADE A GENERAL APPEARANCE OR IN ANY OTHER WAY SUBJECTED ITSELF TO THE PERSONAL JURISDICTION OF THE COURT.

There can be no valid judgment against Valad since the Court in the first instance never had personal jurisdiction over Valad. The Complaint herein was filed on September 20, 1973, and purportedly served upon Valad pursuant to the provisions of the Long Arm Statute (U.C.A. 1953 §§78-27-22 through 24) in New York. (R. 9, 11) On November 1, 1973, Valad responded pro se with a single, "blue backed" document (filed as one document in the Salt Lake County Clerk's office), and consisting of two parts:

A. A document entitled "Answer, Counterclaim, and Cross-Complaint" (R. 23) which was actually a response to Defendant Brown's Cross-Complaint; and

B. A document entitled "Answer" (R. 24-33), which raised all of the jurisdictional defenses. (R. 25-27)

### The Lower Court And First Appeal

On April 14, 1975, Defendant Valad filed a "special appearance" (R. 125-6) and an Affidavit (R. 137-141), treated by the Court as a Motion to Quash Service of Summons (R. 142 and 170), and denied on April 28, 1975. (R. 170)

Valad's affidavit is very significant to this case. (R. 137-141) It specifically denied the presence of agents, sales, offices, bank accounts, advertising and any other significant contact in Utah. It shows the disputed transaction to be isolated. The allegations contained in the affidavit therein have never been contested, challenged or disproven,

either on the previous appeal or at trial.

### The Remittitur

Defendant Valad filed a Notice of Appeal on May 12, 1975 (R. 173), followed by a Petition for Interlocutory Appeal on May 23, 1975 (Supreme Court No. 14102). The Interlocutory Appeal was sought due to Brown's filing of a Motion to Dismiss. (Supreme Court No. 14102)

Via the Remittitur on June 2, 1975, the Court granted Brown's Motion to Dismiss the Appeal but specifically reserved the issue of personal jurisdiction for any ultimate appeal in the matter. (R. 178) That same Remittitur, by its own terms, rendered the interlocutory appeal of Valad moot. (R. 178)

### Testimony At Trial

During the trial, the following testimony came in unchallenged and unrefuted:

- Q. (Schmidt, Attorney for Valad): Did you ever have a sales representative in the State of Utah?
- A. (Valad's Cecchini): No, never.
- Q. Did you ever before do business in the State of Utah?
- A. No.
- Q. How many transactions, if you can remember the number, did you have with Ted R. Brown where you actually received purchase orders from them?
- A. Before this?
- Q. Before this case.
- A. None.
- Q. So that the only purchase orders you ever received from Ted R. Brown were those involved in this present litigation?
- A. Yes. That is correct.
- Q. You have no branch office in the State of Utah?
- A. None.
- Q. You never did?
- A. No. (T. 360)

## Lack Of Minimum Contacts In Utah

The line of cases beginning with Hill v. Zale, 25 Utah 2d 357, 482 P. 2d 332 (1971), clearly defines the limits of "long arm" jurisdiction in Utah. Hill says that the Utah statutes, U.C.A. 1953 §78-27-22 et seq., require the "transaction of business" or "doing business" within the state in order to subject a nonresident corporation to the jurisdiction of our Courts. Id. at 333. The "doing business" test was met by the analysis of a number of factors such as the presence of local offices, personnel, continuous, systematic activity, etc., "none of which is alone the sine qua non to establish a business presence in the state." (See the list at 482 P. 2d at 334) None of the parties to this action have alleged in the complaints or elsewhere, that Valad had any of the contacts required by Hill v. Zale. (R. 4, ¶10; 5, ¶11; etc.)

There are no cases in Utah or elsewhere which predicate jurisdiction on finding of such "minimum contacts" as Valad's in Utah. The analysis of Hill v. Zale has been applied over and over again since 1971 to deny jurisdiction against a defendant in Valad's position. See Union Ski Company v. Union Plastics Corp., 548 P. 2d 1257 (Utah 1976), wherein the Court stated that the burden was on the Plaintiff to affirmatively demonstrate that the Defendant comes within the requirements set forth in Hill. (548 P. 2d at 1259) See also Packaging Corporation of America v. Morris, 561 P. 2d 680 (Utah 1977); and Hodge v. Sands Manufacturing Co., 150 S.E. 2d 793 at 800 (W. Va. 1966), which is almost identical to the case at the bar.



A.  
VALAD DID NOT ENTER  
A GENERAL APPEARANCE

Mallory and Brown claim without merit that Valad has done acts which constitute a general appearance, thus subjecting it to the jurisdiction of the Court herein. Why? Valad allegedly filed an "Answer" and served answers to interrogatories thereafter. The documents allegedly constituting the "general appearance" are the single, "blue-backed" documents found in the record at pages 23 through 33, and the responses to discovery found in the record at pages 63 through 107 and 115 through 122.

Objection To Jurisdiction  
Raised At First Opportunity

The documents found in the record pages 23 through 33 are, significantly, Valad's first appearance of any kind in the record. The pleading found at page 23 is, by misnomer, entitled "Answer, Counterclaim and Cross-Complaint". However, a cursory reading will reveal that it is only a one-page response to the Cross-Complaint of Defendant Brown.

The pleading that begins at page 24 in the record is titled an "Answer". It raises as the "First Defense" the lack of jurisdiction over the person of Valad. (R. 25-27, ¶¶6-18) This defense explains at length that Valad never previously transacted any business within the State of Utah with either Mallory or Brown (R. 26, ¶¶8, 9, 10) and that Valad has no domicile, nor any office, files, facilities, equipment, sales representatives, employees, etc., in Utah. (R. 26 ¶12) It cannot be contested that Valad is clearly claiming, at its earliest opportunity, that the Court lacked personal juris-

diction over it for any purpose whatsoever, as to both Brown and Mallory. Technically, the words of objection to jurisdiction are not found in the document mistitled "Answer, Counterclaim and Cross-Complaint" (R. 23) filed simultaneously with the "Answer". (R. 24)

#### No Waiver Of The Jurisdictional Defense

Rule 12(h) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides that a party waives all defenses and objections which it does not present in its answer. Valad raised the objection to jurisdiction in its answer. (R. 26) Rule 12(b) further provides that:

No defense or objection is waived by being joined with one or more other defenses or objections in a responsive pleading...or by further pleading after the denial of such motion or objection.

Valad's objection to jurisdiction contained in the "Answer" was physically joined (R. 23, 24) to the mis-titled "Answer, Counterclaim and Cross-Complaint" (R. 23), and thus was part of the same responsive pleading. It was obviously intended to be joined with the defenses to Brown's Counterclaim. Since Valad raised the issue of no personal jurisdiction in its responsive pleading designated "Answer", it cannot be waived just because it was joined with other defenses or pleadings

#### No General Appearance

The distinction between general and special appearances has been narrowing. In holding that a motion to release the attachment did not constitute a general appearance, the Court recently noted the following:

The distinction between general and special appearances has been abolished by the language

contained in Rule 12(b) as follows:  
No defense or objection is waived by  
being joined with one or more other  
defenses or objections in a responsive  
pleading or motion or by further  
pleading after the denial of such motion  
or objection.

Brown v. Carnes Corp., 547 P. 2d 206 at 207 (Utah 1976).

[See also Green v. Roth, 192 So. 2d 537 (Fla. App. 1966); Sharp v. Sharp, 409 P. 2d 1019 (Kan. 1966); and Anderson v. Mikel Drilling Co., 102 N.W. 2d 293 (Minn. 1960)].

### Substance And Intent Prevail Over Technicalities

The reason for the fading distinction between general and special appearances is the general policy of the Federal Rules favoring substance over technicalities of form. This policy has been expressed as follows:

We recognize that the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure must be construed liberally to bring about a just, speedy and inexpensive determination of every action. Any requirement of compliance with barren technical formalities is to be avoided. (Emphasis added) Plant Economy, Inc. v. Mirror Insulation Co., Inc., 308 F. 2d 375 at 378 (3rd Cir. 1962)

Thus, where the contention is made, as in the case at the bar, that a party has committed technical acts which should subject him to the personal jurisdiction of the Court despite a contrary intent, the substance of the acts should prevail over the form. See Farmer's Trust v. Alexander, 6 A. 2d 262 at 264 (Pa. 1939). The intent of a party is paramount: "An appearance is not to be inferred except as a result of acts from which an intent to do so may properly be inferred." 6 C.J.S., Appearances, Sec. 12, P. 19.

Utah cases dealing with the issue of "appearance" show that this Court has been reluctant to construe a general

appearance on a technicality. In Fiberboard Paper Products Corp. v. Dietrich, 25 Utah 2d 65, 475 P. 2d. 1005 (1970), the Defendant's pro se letter to Plaintiff's attorney, with a copy to the Court Clerk, denying that he owed the bill, was not a general appearance. Id. at 1006. In Housely v. Anaconda Co., 19 Utah 2d 124, 427 P. 2d 390 (1967), the non-resident defendant's counsel purportedly appeared "specially" at a hearing to amend Plaintiff's complaint and actually objected thereto. The Supreme Court rejected Plaintiff's claim that this constituted a general appearance because the intent to make a special appearance by the defendant was clearly stated. Cf. Barber v. Calder, 522 P. 2d 700 (Utah 1974).

Other jurisdictions facing the issue of whether a party has unintentionally done acts which amount to a general appearance, despite contrary intent, have arrived at similar results to that of Utah. See Cornett v. Smith, 466 S.W. 2d 641 at 642 (Ky. 1969).

The facts of the case at the bar show that Valad never intended to appear, nor in fact appeared generally, or waive it's objection to personal jurisdiction. At the instance of its first appearance in Court on October 29, 1973, Valad raised the objection to personal jurisdiction. (R. 24-25) The objection to jurisdiction was stated in clear, concise, and unmistakable terms. The claim that the filing of the answer to Brown's cross-complaint (R. 23) subjected Valad to jurisdiction is clearly putting form and technicality above substance, and it is not countenanced by either the letter or the spirit of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

B.  
FURTHER PLEADING OR RESPONSE  
TO DISCOVERY AFTER THE OBJECTION  
TO JURISDICTION BY VALAD DID NOT  
SUBJECT IT TO THE JURISDICTION  
OF THE COURT.

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