1978

Mallory Engineering, Inc v. Ted R. Brown & Associates, Inc and Valad Electric Heating Corp : Brief of Respondent Mallory

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

Point I

THE UTAH COURT DOES HAVE PERSONAL JURISDICTION OVER DEFENDANT-APPELLANT VALAD

In this case there should be no question but that Valad in fact subjected itself to the jurisdiction of the Utah Court.

In enacting the Utah long-arm statute the Legislature made the express policy determination explicitly set forth in Sec. 78-27-22 UCA 1953 that:

" . . .the public interest demands the state provide its citizens with an effective means of redress against nonresident persons who through certain minimal contacts with this state incur obligations to citizens entitled to the state's protection. . ."

The Legislature in Sec. 78-27-24 then enumerated those acts which would subject a nonresident to the jurisdiction of the Utah Court. In part that section provides:

"Any person, notwithstanding section 16-10-102, whether or not a citizen or resident of this state, who in person or through an agent does any of the following enumerated acts, submits himself, and if an individual, his personal representative to the jurisdiction of the courts of this state as to any claim arising from:

- (1) The transaction of any business within this state;
- (2) Contracting to supply services or goods in this state;
- (3) The causing of any injury within this state whether tortious or by breach of warranty; . . ."

An enlightened interpretation of the foregoing Utah long-arm statute was made by this Court in the recent case of *Abbott GM Diesel, Inc. v. Piper Aircraft Corporation*, 578 P2d 850. In the *Abbott* case, a unanimous Court speaking through Justice Wilkins said:

"While it is true that this Court has stated that 'if there is any difference between what is stated as the 'doing business' and the 'minimal contact' tests it is probably more in semantics than in substance,' we now conclude that from an examination of many individual cases concerning jurisdictional matters, including the present one there can well be a significant and controlling difference in those two concepts."

In reversing the trial court's dismissal of the action in the Abbott case for lack of personal jurisdiction over the non-resident defendant, and in remanding the case to resolve the conflicts of facts set forth in the affidavits filed by the respective parties upon which affidavits the case was decided, this Court said:

"The District Court, after remand, should as heretofore directed, conduct a hearing to resolve the conflicts of facts stated in the affidavits filed by the parties. And that hearing should be governed by inquiries into and a measurement of (a) the nature and quality of Piper's acts (b) whether Piper engaged in purposeful - rather than unintentional - acts in order to avail itself of the privileges and protections here (and the substance - not just form - of Piper's business relationship and acts should be ascertained), and (c) any other relevant matters bearing on 'notions of fair play and substantial justice'."

The facts determinative of the Utah Court's jurisdiction over Valad in this case are clear cut and undisputed. Valad did the specific acts which the Legislature said would subject a nonresident to the jurisdiction of the Utah Court. Valad contracted with Brown to supply goods (electrical heaters) which Brown sold Mallory. Valad also expressly warranted in writing by its Certificates of Certification that the heaters would meet certain performance criteria which the heaters did not. As a direct and proximate result of the failure of the heaters to meet the required performance criteria, substantial injury and damage was caused Mallory.

The selling and supplying of the heaters by Valad to Brown for resale by Brown to Mallory was a purposeful and not an

unintentional act. It was done only after many deliberate negotiations had taken place between Brown and Valad. Furthermore, the warranty Valad made by virtue of its Certificates of Certification was purposeful and not unintentional. The warranty was made by Valad so as to be in compliance with the express condition of the contract Valad had with Brown. Considering the foregoing purposeful deliberate acts on the part of Valad, "notions of fair play and substantial justice" dictate that the Utah Court does and did have jurisdiction over Valad.

An examination of the record clearly evidences that by the pleadings Valad submitted, as well as the appearances Valad made (where its entire case was thoroughly aired), Valad subjected itself to the jurisdiction of the Utah Court. So as not to belabor this point, Mallory agrees with and by reference hereby adopts the argument so ably set forth in the brief of Brown in this regard.

A not insignificant fact too is that even before Valad submitted any pleadings, Godfrey P. Schmidt, the attorney for Valad, by telegram, requested a two-week extension of time which was granted. The cross telegrams appear in the record at pages 126-7.

Considering the totality of all of the foregoing, Valad's contention that it is not subject to the jurisdiction of the Utah Court is without merit.

Point II

BROWN WAS NOT MERELY A "CONDUIT" OR "INTERMEDIARY" BUT IN FACT CONTRACTED TO SELL MALLORY HEATERS WHICH WOULD MEET SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE CRITERIA. HOWEVER, BROWN DEFAULTED ON THAT CONTRACT CAUSING MALLORY LOSS & DAMAGE

Brown endeavors to avoid any responsibility or liability by asserting that it was solely a "conduit" or "intermediary" in the entire transaction who merely transmitted Mallory's heater criteria to Valad, the manufacturer of the heaters. At page 18 of Brown's brief the statement is made that ". . .all concerned knew that, in fact, Brown was not purchasing the heaters and reselling them, but was simply serving as an intermediary. . .". This assertion is simply not true.

A careful and objective analysis of the record won't support Brown's contention in this regard. On the contrary, the record demonstrates rather conclusively that Brown was more than a mere "conduit" or "intermediary", and, in fact, that Brown was the actual seller of the heaters to Mallory.

Prior to the fiasco involving the Valad heaters, Mallory had never purchased any heaters from Brown but had purchased several thousands of dollars of other equipment and instrumentation from Brown. (T. 14 and 97) Brown no doubt made a profit on those sales and would no doubt make a profit on a sale to Mallory of the heaters which Mallory needed for the environmental units Mallory was making for the Government.

Carl Nyman, who was Brown's chief negotiator between Brown and Mallory as well as between Brown and Valad, admitted that

he never represented he was an "agent", "representative", "intermediary" or "conduit" for Mallory. On cross-examination by Valad's attorney he said (T. 351):

Q. Did you ever represent to Valad in so many words that you were an agent or representative of Brown - of Mallory?

A. I don't recall ever having used such a representation or discussion.

Q. Or did you ever represent to Valad that you were an intermediary for Mallory or a conduit for Mallory?

A. I don't recall having used that terminology.

Mr. Nyman wanted an opportunity to quote prices on the heaters for the environmental units Mallory had heretofore purchased from Chromalox Electric or Regan Engineering. (T. 14) With reference to the initial contact between Brown and Mallory, Lee Farber, President and General Manager, stated on cross-examination by Brown's attorney (T. 96):

Q. Mr. Farber, who in Mallory's organization contacted Ted R. Brown with regard to the Government job that is the question here?

A. Who contacted Brown?

Q. Yes.

A. I am not certain that Mallory did contact Brown. I think Brown contacted Mallory.

To enable Brown to furnish quotes on heater prices, Mallory furnished specific heater performance criteria to Brown. (T. 10 and Ex. 4) The testimony of Mr. Farber in this regard is (T. 10):

Q. (By Mr. Alston) Mr. Farber, I show you what, for identification purposes, has been marked Exhibit No. 4 and ask if you can tell us what the exhibit is?

MR. FARBER: Exhibit No. 4 is entitled Electrical Heater Criteria. And this was criteria that I prepared and submitted to Mr. Carl Nyman of the Ted R. Brown Company

for the purpose of having him understand what we needed if he was to sell us heaters on Job. 281. .
(Emphasis supplied)

After receiving the heater criteria Brown secured price quotes from Valad on the Valad heaters, which heaters were of an entirely different type than the heaters Mallory previously used and had purchased from Chromalox Electric or Regan Engineering. Upon receipt of the price quotes from Brown on the Valad type heater, Mallory submitted to Brown its P.O.s 4016, 4047 and 4241 for some 15 KW, 21 KW, 50 KW, 12 KW and 36 KW heaters. (Exs. 9, 12 and 14) Rather than just send copies of Mallory's P.O.s to Valad with a transmittal letter, Brown sent Valad its P.O.s on Brown's own letterhead stationery. These were Brown's P.O.s 6730 (Ex. 10), 6754 (Ex. 13), and 7269 (Ex. 15).

A comparison of the Mallory and Brown P.O.s for the very same heaters shows that the Brown P.O.s are not mere copies of the Mallory P.O.s but that there are some significant differences between them. This is evidenced by the uncontradicted testimony of Mr. Farber elicited by Brown's attorney as follows (T. 97-8):

- Q. You did not, at any time, consider that Ted R. Brown & Associates were fabricating manufacturing or in any way designing those heaters?
- A. Prior to seeing all of the Court documents and exhibits, it was my understanding that Mr. Nyman was not going to engineer or design anything on the heaters. But I am not so sure now after I have seen the purchase orders that he issued to Valad.
- Q. The relationship that you initiated with Brown was not one based upon their performing any design service for you on those heaters? (Emphasis supplied)

A. As far as I was concerned the relationship that existed with Brown is that Brown wanted to sell us heaters and that we wanted to buy them. (Emphasis supplied)

On each of the Brown P.O.s, right after the name Valad Electric Heating Co., to whom each of the Brown P.O.s was directed, appears the following:

"PLEASE ENTER OUR ORDER FOR THE FOLLOWING" (Emphasis supplied). There is not indication of any kind whatsoever on any of Brown's P.O.s that Brown was submitting a purchase order as "agent", "Intermediary" or in any other capacity for and on behalf of what Brown now endeavors to assert was Brown's so-called "principal", namely: Mallory. The language is clear and unequivocal. The P.O.s state that they are our (Brown's) P.O.s. The instructions simply say "ship to" Mallory Engineering.

Valad's consistently repeated statements throughout the record that Brown was its customer (purchaser or vendee), which incidentally are uncontroverted, is further evidence that as between Brown and Mallory, with reference to the heaters which are the subject matter of this case, Brown was the seller or vendor and Mallory was the purchaser or vendee not of Valad but of Brown. This seller-purchaser arrangement as between Brown and Mallory is further substantiated by the plain, unambiguous language on all of Brown's P.O.s. All of them say: "Ordered by Carl Nyman", and they, in turn, are all signed by Brown's Purchasing Agent. None of Brown's P.O.s say: "Ordered for Mallory by Brown", the "agent" or "intermediary" for Mallory, the principal of Brown. Furthermore, all of Brown's P.O.s say:

"BILL TO: Ted R. Brown & Assoc., P.O. Box 1356, Salt Lake City, Utah 84110". They do not say bill our principal, Mallory, for whom Brown is acting as "agent", "representative" or "intermediary" % us, Brown.

While not binding on this Court, during the course of the trial, the District Court made several observations as to what in fact the testimony and documentary evidence indicated the relationship between Brown and Mallory was. At one point in the trial the Court said (T. 294):

Well, I know what the relationship between the plaintiff and Brown is. That's evident from the exhibits, and that's vendor-vendee, at least in the initial stages. There was testimony that they contacted Brown - I believe Brown contacted Mallory in the initial stages and they entered into some negotiations to purchase heaters to certain criteria. (Emphasis supplied)

Furthermore, in responding to Brown's contention that Carl Nyman, for and on behalf of Brown, was acting solely as an "intermediary", the Court said:

Well, he did something more than just forward Mallory's purchase order.

Later, the Court said (T. 644):

Now, wait a minute. He went further than that. It wasn't a question of him (Nyman) just saying to Mallory "Look. You can get this work done at Valad Electric in New York," and walking away from it. They participated actively all the way through the negotiations.

The response which Valad's attorney made during the trial to the "conduit" or "intermediary" theory argued by Brown's attorney is enlightening as well as persuasive. It's found at page 305 of the transcript and is as follows:

MR. SCHMIDT:

I'd like to go back to their (Brown's) cross-complaint. The cross-complaint uses two words to signify the status of Brown. One is intermediary. And the other is conduit, c-o-n-d-u-i-t.

I think the word intermediary is not very illuminating because there are very many kinds of intermediary. And there is another word in the picture that has been used today. And that is - and it's been used before in this case. And that is it was for transmittal only that Brown acted. In other words it seemed to me, if I understood that argument correctly, that Brown was a kind of letter carrier for Mallory.

Well, I asked myself, can a letter carrier sue an addressee? Can an intermediary or a conduit, if that's what happened. .

Contrary to the statements and inferences in Brown's brief, there is nothing inconsistent in a vendor-vendee relationship which would preclude the vendee in that relationship from demanding a "certification" from the "manufacturer" as to the performance of the item or items being purchased. Nor is there anything in such a relationship which would preclude the vendee from making direct contact with the "manufacturer" if there was any trouble or defect with respect to any item or items. Such demands and contacts are entirely consistent and in harmony with a vendor-vendee relationship. Furthermore, the evidence in this case is uncontradicted that when trouble arose with the Valad heaters, Carl Nyman of Brown specifically requested that Lee Farber of Mallory contact Valad directly and firsthand to explain the problem. (T. 75)

There is evidence and testimony in the record about some preliminary negotiations between Valad and Brown pointing toward the possibility of Brown possibly becoming Valad's "agent" or

"sales representative" in Utah. This never materialized. More than likely the reason the "agent" or "sales representative" relationship never materialized between Valad and Brown was because of the modest 5% to 10% maximum commission Brown would have derived under such an arrangement. However, by Brown purchasing the heaters from Valad as it did, and reselling the heaters to Mallory as it did, Brown's margin of profit on the transaction ranged from 19% to 37%.

It a party does, in fact, become an "agent" or "intermediary" in a particular transaction, there is usually discussion and agreement as to what the "commission" or "consideration" is going to be. There is absolutely no testimony or evidence that there was any such discussion or agreement between Brown and Mallory. This fact is another in the totality of facts evidencing that the arrangement between Brown and Mallory in the transaction which gave rise to the lawsuit which is the subject matter of this appeal was that of seller and purchaser or vendor and vendee, and not one of "agency" or "intermediary" or some similar relationship.

The testimony and evidence adduced simply does not support Brown's contention that it served solely as an "intermediary" who merely transmitted Mallory's P.O.s to Valad.

Point III

THE HEATERS DID NOT MEET REQUIRED PERFORMANCE CRITERIA AND THEY WERE NOT TIMELY DELIVERED

There is no question but that the heaters did not meet

Mallory's required performance criteria. Lee Farber, Mallory's president and general manager, testified in this regard

(T. 39-40):

- Q. Did you have any problems with the heaters at all?
- A. Yes. The heaters were deficient in capacity. They did not produce the capacity that we specified. And the sheath temperature exceeded the allowable temperature limits.
- Q. How do you know that they didn't meet the requirements, Mr. Farber?
- A. After we installed the heaters in the environmental chambers, we operated them. We conducted shop tests. We measured the voltage and amperage as an indication of the capacity. And we installed temperature sensors, thermal couples on the heaters, the heater sheaths, the heater fins and also in the air stream of the chamber to measure sheath temperature, fin temperature and chamber air temperature.

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